
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

LITTLE ROCK DIVISION 

LONNIE LANE, ON BEHALF OF HIMSELF 
AND ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED 

v 

Ff LED 
U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT MnANSAS 

cAsE No.Lb' I 1~v 15,2-JLll 

This case assigned to Ois){irJ. ~~ 
and to Magistrate Judg~_._'1._~i;...;:+-----­

UNIVERSAL FIDELITY LP, 
LINK REVENUE RESOURCES LLC & 
JAMIE JACKSON, INDIVIDUALLY DEFENDANTS 

COMPLAINT 

Comes now the Plaintiff, Lonnie Lane, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated 

(hereinafter "Lane"), by and through his attorneys, Leigh Law PLLC, and for his Complaint 

against Defendants Universal Fidelity LP (hereinafter "Universal"), Link Revenue Resources 

LLC (hereinafter "Link") and Jamie Jackson, individually (hereinafter "Jackson") and 

respectfully states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff Lane brings this Complaint seeking statutory and actual damages, as well as 

attorney fees and costs, for violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (hereafter 

"FDCPA '') § 15 USC. 1692 et seq., and the Arkansas Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

(hereafter "AFDCPA ") § 17-24-101 et seq. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to 15 USC.§ 1692k(d); A.CA.§ 

17-24-512(d); A.CA.§ 4-88-113(/); 15 and 28 USC§ 1331, and as Plaintiffs state claims are 

related to Plaintiffs federal claims, and Plaintiff's state claims are inextricably entwined and 
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arise out of a common nucleus of related facts, form part of the same controversy under Article 

III of the United States Constitution, are not complex or novel and are straightforward, this Court 

has supplemental jurisdiction to hear and adjudicate Plaintiffs state claims against the Defendant 

pursuant to 28 USC§ 1367. 

2. Venue is proper as all alleged conduct took place while the Plaintiff was residing 

in Cabot, Arkansas. 

PARTIES 

3. Lane is an individual, natural person, and a consumer, residing in Cabot, 

Arkansas; and was an "individual", "natural person", and a "consumer" at all times as alleged in 

this Complaint. 1 

4. Defendant Universal, located at 16325 Westheimer Road, Houston, Texas, 77082, 

is a "debt collector", in so far as debt collector is defined pursuant to 15 USC§ 1692a(6) and 

A.CA.§ 17-24-502(5)(A). 

5. Defendant Link, located at 4891 Ronson Court, San Diego, California, 92111, is a 

"debt collector'', in so far as debt collector is defined pursuant to 15 US. C § 1692a(6) and 

A.CA.§ 17-24-502(5)(A). 

6. Defendant Jackson, is a "debt collector", in so far as debt collector is defined 

pursuant to 15 USC§ 1692a(6) and A.CA.§ 17-24-502(5)(A). 

RELEVANTPRECEDENTANDSTATUTORYSTRUCTURE 
OF THE FDCPA AND THE AFDCPA 

7. Lane incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs ( 1) through ( 6). 

1 A "consumer," as defined in Section 803(3) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), is "any natural person obligated 
or allegedly obligated to pay any debt." 
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8. Whether conduct violates the FDCP A is to be determined by analyzing the 

conduct from the perspective of the least sophisticated consumer. Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau 

Servs., Inc., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (81h Cir. 2001)(quoting, Duffy v. Landberg, 215 F.3d 871, 873 (8•" 

Cir. 2000). 

9. Debt collectors may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or 

means in connection with the collection of any debt. 15 USC. § 1692e & A.CA. § /7-2-1-

506(a). 

10. When evaluating whether a communication is false, deceptive, or misleading, we 

consider the perspective of an 'unsophisticated consumer."' Peters v. Gen. Serv. Bureau. Inc., 

277 F.3d 1051, 1055 (8th Cir. 2002)). 

11. 15 USC. § 1692g (a)(l)-(5) & A.CA.§ 17-24-508(a)(l)-(5) states the following: 

Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer in 
connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector shall 
[emphasis added], unless the following infonnation is contained in 
the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the 
consumer a written notice containing --

( 1) the amount of the debt; 

(2) the name of the creditor [emphasis added] to whom the debt is 
owed; 

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, \vithin thirty days after 
receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt or any portion 
thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt collector; 

( 4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in 
writing [emphasis addedfwithin the thirty-day period that the debt, 
or any portion thereof, is disputed. the debt collector will obtain 
verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer 
and a copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the 
consumer by the debt collector; and 

2 Owens v. Hellmuth & Johnson, PLLC, 550 F. Supp. 2d 1060 - Dist. Court, Minnesota 2008; Peak v. Southern & 
Allen. Dist. Court, ED Arkansas 20 I 0: 
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(5) a statement that. upon the consumer's written request within the 
thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer with 
the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the 
c1ment creditor. 

12. Any collection activities and communication during the 30-day period may not 

overshadow or be inconsistent with the disclosure of the consumer's right to dispute the debt or 

request the name and address of the original creditor. 15 USC§ 1692(g). 

13. Only if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing [emphasis addedf 

within the thirty-day validation period that the debt or any portion thereof, is disputed, or that 

the consumer requests the name and address Qf' the original Cfeditor, shall the debt coilector be 

legally obligated to cease collection of the debt, or any disputed portion thereof. until the debt 

collector obtains verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment, or the name and address of the 

original creditor, and a copy of such verification or judgment, or name and address of the 

original creditor, is mailed to the consumer by the debt collector. 15 USC. § 1692(g)(b) & 

A.CA.§ 

14. Overshadowing or inconsistency occurs when a debt-collection letter conveys 

information in a confusing or contradictory fashion so as to cloud the required message with 

uncertainty. Founie v. Midland Credit Mgmt., Inc., No. 4:14CV816 RWS, 2014 WL 6607197, at 

*3 (E.D. Mo. Nov. 19, 2014) (quoting Owens v. Hellmuth & Johnson, PLLC, 550 F. Supp. 2d 

1060, 1064 (D. Minn. 2008)).4 

3 Dunham v Portfolio Recovery Associates, 11-1553 (81h Cir. 20 II); see also, Founie v, Midland Credit Management 
4:14 cv-816 RWS (quoting Ellis v. Solomon and Solomon, PC, 591, F.3d 130 (2°d Cir. 2010). 

4 Whether collection activities or communications within the 30-day validation period overshadow or are 
inconsistent with a validation notice is determined under the 'unsophisticated consumer' standard." Glackin v. LTD 
Fin. Servs., L.P., No. 4:13-CV-00717 (CEJ), 2013 WL 3984520, at *3 (E.D. Mo. Aug. I, 2013) (quotation marks 
omitted). 
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15. The bona fide error defense is limited to clerical errors. Picht v. Jon R. Hawks, 

Ltd., 236 F.3d 446, 451 (8'h Cir. 2001).5 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

16. Lane incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs (1) through (15). 

17. On or about the date of January 20, 2017, Lane received an initial communication 

from Defendant Universal (See Exhibit "A " attached hereto and incorporated by reference). 

18. The initial communication (hereinafter "communication") from Universal to Lane 

was an attempt to collect a debt from Lane, in so far as "debt" is defined under the FDCP A and 

AFDCPA, specifically, 15 US. C. 1692(a)(5)6 and A. CA. 17-24-502(4), and the said debt was 

allegedly owed to a creditor, in so far as "creditor" is defined under the FDCPA and AFDCP A, 

specifically, 15 US.C. 1692(a)(4). 

19. On the backside of the communication it advised Lane: 

"Unless you notify Universal Fidelity LP, within 30 days after 
receiving your initial notice that you dispute the validity of this debt 
or any portion thereof, Universal Fidelity LP will assume this debt is 
valid. If you notify universal Fidelity LP in writing within 30 days 
from receiving your initial notice, Universal Fidelity LP will obtain 
verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgement and mail you 
a copy of such judgement or verification. If you make a request to 
Universal Fidelity LP in writing within 30 days after receiving your 
initial notice, Universal Fidelity LP will provide you with the name 
and address of the original creditor, if different form the current 
creditor." 

20. On the front side of the communication it advised Lane: 

5 See also, Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini. Kramer & Ulnch LPA, Supreme Court of the United States, No. 08-
1200, 130, 1605; 176 L Ed. 2D 519; 20 I 0 Lexis 3480 (April 21, 20 I O)("This case presents the question whether the 
"bona fide error" defense applies to a violation resulting from a debt collector's mistaken interpretation of the legal 
requirements of the FDCPA. "[W]e conclude it does not."). 

6 A "debt," as defined in Section 803(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § /692a(5), as "any obligation or alleged 
obligation of a consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance or 
services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, whether 
or not such obligation. 
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If you do not recognize this debt or wish to dispute [emphasis 
added], please call us at 281-647-4155 or complete the dispute form 
on the back of this letter and return it using the enclosed envelope. 

21. On the back of the letter [communication] there is no dispute form to complete. 

22. After Lane read Universal's letter he became confused as to exactly what was the 

correct procedure he should follow to assert his dispute rights, as Lane disputed the validity of 

the alleged debt, and wanted Universal to provide proper debt validation. 

23. As Lane knew he did not owe the amount alleged to any creditor, along with 

Universal's statement to fill out the dispute fom1 on the back of the letter when no dispute form 

was on the back of the letter, and Universal had advised Lane to both call and write to dispute the 

debt, this caused Lane to become frustrated, angry, and stressed, due to Universal's contradictory 

statements to Lane contained in its initial communication to Lane. 

COUNT 1 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FDCPA 

24. Lane incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs (1) through (23). 

25. Universal and Jackson (hereinafter "Universal" will also refer to Jackson as well) 

violated the FDCPA, specifically, 15 USC § 1692g (a)(l)-(5), as Universal's letter states the 

following: 

"Unless you notify Universal Fidelity LP, within 30 days after 
receiving your initial notice that you dispute the validity of this debt 
or any portion thereof, Universal Fidelity LP will assume this debt is 
valid. If you notify Universal Fidelity LP in writing within 30 
days from receiving your initial notice, Universal Fidelity LP will 
obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgement and 
mail you a copy of such judgement or verification. If you make a 
request to Universal Fidelity LP in writing within 30 days after 
receiving your initial notice, Universal Fidelity LP will provide you 
with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from 
the current creditor." 
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Universal's communication should read ... "If you notify Universal Fidelity LP in writing within 

30 days from receiving your initial notice that you dispute the debt or any portion thereof .... 

Universal's failure to include that material statement "that you dispute the debt or any portion 

thereof' is a material violation of 15 U.S. C. § 1692g. 

26. Universal violated the FDCPA, specifically, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, when Universal 

communicated with Lane, in connection with the collection of a debt, in a confusing and 

contradictory fashion. Specifically, Universal' s letter (communication) advised Lane he could 

dispute the alleged debt by filling out a dispute form on the reverse side of the letter, but the 

reverse side of the letter contained no dispute form. Universal's confusing, false, and 

misleading statement is a material misrepresentation, because the misrepresentation involves a 

manner in which Lane could allegedly dispute the debt. 

27. Universal's letter to Lane further violates 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, because it 

communicates to Lane, in connection with the collection of a debt, in a confusing and 

contradictory fashion, by telling Lane on the front side of the letter if he wishes to dispute the 

debt he needs to call 281-647-4155 and on the reverse side, although in a confusing manner that 

does not comply with 15 USC § 1692g (a)(l)-(5), that he needs to send a written dispute if he 

wishes to dispute the validity of the debt. 

28. Universal's letter to Lane also violates 15 USC§ 1692(g), as the instruction on 

the front of the letter to call Universal overshadows the fact that Lane must make a written 

request to trigger the protections of debt validation. All a verbal dispute does is take the 

assumption from the debt collector that the debt is valid; a verbal dispute does not require a debt 

collector to obtain debt validation/verification and mail it to the consumer and suspend its 

collection efforts until the debt collector has properly validated the debt. An oral dispute triggers 
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consumer protections that are independent of the protections triggered by other portions of 

section 1692g that expressly require a written dispute. Most consumers, and certainly an 

unsophisticated consumer, would not understand that they would be giving up their debt 

validation rights by calling to dispute the debt as opposed to sending a written dispute. In 

addition, the offer for Lane to fill out a debt dispute form that is non-existent further violates 15 

U.S.C. § 1692's overshadowing protections. Universal's letter when read in conjunction with 

the front and the back of the letter, along with the misrepresentation as it relates to the dispute 

form on the back of the letter, conveys information in a confusing and contradictory fashion so 

as to cloud the required message with uncertainty. 

29. Universal's letter further violates 15 USC.§ 1692(g) as it fails to clearly identify 

the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed, in the manner prescribed under 15 US. C. § 

1692(g). Universal's letter names the alleged original creditor to whom the debt is no longer 

allegedly owed, and then refers to Link Revenue Resources, LLC as the "Master Servicer" and 

Universal as a "client". Universal's use of the terms "Master Servicer" and "client" further 

violate the clear and unambiguous requirements of 15 USC. § 1692(g) to clearly name the 

creditor to whom the debt is owed [emphasis added]. 

COUNT2 

VIOLATIONS OF THE AFDCPA 

30. Lane incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs (1) through (29). 

31. As the AFDCP A mirrors the FDCP A, the allegations of violations of the FDCP A, 

as previously pleaded are per se violations of the AFDCPA, specifically, A.CA.§ 17-24-506(a) 

& A.CA. §17-24-508. 
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. . 

DAMAGES AND PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

32. Lane incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs (1) through (31 ). 

33. As it relates to statutory damages under the FDCPA, the Act states, "Any debt 

collector who fails to comply with any provision of the Act, with respect to any person, is liable 

to such person for statutory damages up to $1,000.00. 15 USC. 1692k(a)(2). 

34. Lane prays for statutory damages under the FDCP A in the amount of $1000.00 

against Defendant Universal. 

35. Lane prays for statutory damages under the FDCPA in the amount of $1000.00 

against Defendant Jackson. 

36. Lane prays for statutory damages under the FDCP A in the amount of $1000.00 

against Defendant Link. As both Link and Universal meet the definition of a debt collector 

under the FDCPA, Defendant Link is vicariously liable for the conduct of Defendant Universal.7 

37. As it relates to actual damages under the FDCPA, the Act states, "Any debt 

collector who fails to comply with any provision of the Act, with respect to any person, is liable 

tosuchpersonforactualdamages." 15USC.§1692k(a)(l). 

38. Lane prays for the actual damages of anger, fear, anxiety, and stress against all 

Defendants, in an amount determined by the jury. 8 

7 See, Pollice v. National Tax Funding, L.P., 225 F.3d 379, 404 (3rd Cir. 2000). 

8 "Actual damages include damages for personal humiliation, embarrassment, mental anguish and emotional 
distress. There is no fixed standard or measure in the case of intangible items such as humiliation, embarrassment, 
mental anguish or emotional distress. Mental and emotional suffering and distress pass under various names such as 
mental anguish, nervous shock and the like. It includes all highly unpleasant mental reactions such as fright or grief, 
shame, humiliation, embarrassment, anger, chagrin, disappointment, worry and nausea. The law does not set a 
definite standard by which to calculate compensation for mental and emotional suffering and distress. Neither is 
there any requirement that any witness express an opinion about the amount of compensation that is appropriate for 
the kind oflaw." McCollough v. Johnson, Rodenburg & Lauinger, LLC, ._ F.3d __ , 2011 WL 746892 (9th Cir. 
2011). [It is noteworthy The Honorable Sandra Day O'Connor, Associate Justice of the United States Supreme Court 
(Ret.), was sitting by designation pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 294(a)]. 
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. .. "'' 

39. As it relates to statutory damages under the AFDCPA, the Act states, "Any debt 

collector who fails to comply with any provision of the Act, with respect to any person, is liable 

to such person for statutory damages up to $1,000.00." A.CA.§ 17-24-512(a)(2)(A). 

40. Lane prays for statutory damages under the AFDCPA in the amount of $1000.00 

against Defendant Universal. 

41. Lane prays for statutory damages under the AFDCP A in the amount of $1000.00 

against Defendant Jackson. 

42. Lane prays for statutory damages under the AFDCPA in the amount of $1000.00 

against Defendant Link. 

43. Lane prays for a reasonable attorney's foe as determined by the court pursuant to 

15 USC 1692k&A.CA. § 17-24-512(3)(A). 

44. Lane prays for any other relief that the Court deems just and proper. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

45. Lane incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs (1) through (44). 

46. Lane demands trial by jury. 

Respectfully Submitted: 

~-
Victoria Leigh, ABN 2011257 
Leigh Law PLLC 
PO Box 21514 
Little Rock, AR 72221 
501.227.7627 Office 
501.227.7628 Facsimile 
v@leigh-law.com 
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